UNEARTHING THE ROLE OF ECTOMYCORRHIZAL FUNGI IN PINE CO-INVASIONS ON MAUI

A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE GRADUATE DIVISION OF THE UNIVERSITY OF HAWAI'I AT MĀNOA IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

MASTER OF SCIENCE

IN

BOTANY (ECOLOGY, EVOLUTION, AND CONSERVATION BIOLOGY)

MAY 2021

By

Leah P. M. Thompson

Thesis Committee:

Nicole Hynson, Chairperson Anthony Amend Nhu Nguyen

Keywords: pine, ectomycorrhizal, co-invasion, Suillus

Acknowledgments

I would like to first and foremost to thank all the members of the Hynson and Amend labs for their support and friendship during my time working on my degree. I also want to thank the National Park Service for facts and information, the State of Hawai'i Department of Fish and Wildlife for site access, and Center for MICROBIOME Analysis through Island Knowledge & Investigation for project funding. Thank you to Dr. Cameron Eagan, Dr. Nicole Hynson, Dr. Nhu Nguyen, Dr. Travis Idol, Sean Swift, and Patricia Sendao for help with field work. Thank you to Danyel Yogi, Kacie Kajihara, Terrance McDermott, Megan Isii, Mistiha Jayaraj, and Tanja Lantz Hirvonen for help setting up bioassays, counting root tips, measuring weights, and running extractions. I would like to thank Dr. Michael Kantar, Dr. Chris Wall, Dr. Jack Darcy, and Sean Swift for help with my data analyses. Thank you to Dr. Chris Wall and Thomas Chapin for editing my draft. Finally, thank you to my committee, Dr. Anthony Amend, Dr. Nhu Nguyen, and Dr. Nicole Hynson for all her support and helping guide me along the way. I would also like to thank my friends and family, who were there to support me in all the aspects of my life throughout this process.

Abstract

Pines are one of the most invasive trees in the world, invading with the aid of belowground ectomycorrhizal fungal mutualists. Pinus radiata is currently invading multiple parts of the Hawaiian Islands, including near the Haleakalā National Park on the island of Maui. While there are no pines or their associated ectomycorrhizal (EM) fungi that are native to Hawai'i, previous studies have shown EM fungal species, especially suilloid species, associating with P. radiata up to 1000 m away from the original plantations. In order to predict areas on Maui that are susceptible to future pine invasions, we must understand how the distribution of EM fungi, specifically Suillus spp., varies across the landscape and how these invasive fungi affect pine seedling success. To do so, a bioassay experiment was performed in which P. radiata seeds were grown from soil collected at varying distances from the existing plantation at the Kula Forest Reserve. Pine seedling roots were visually analyzed for percent colonization of EM fungi, weighed, and sequenced for EM fungal community composition using Illumina amplicon sequencing. The community of EM fungi found 2000 m away from the plantation was significantly different than the community within and around the plantation, and largely comprised of Suillus spp. The percent colonization of bioassay roots by EM fungi increased with distance from the plantation and increased colonization was positively correlated with increased seedling biomass. With the aid of Suillus spp., P. radiata appears to have the symbiotic partners needed to aid in the dispersal and survivorship of seedling out into this landscape.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgmentsi
Abstract ii
List of Tables iv
List of Figuresv
Introduction1
Pine Invasions and Ectomycorrhizal Fungi2
Pine Co-Invasions
Pinus radiata
Premise of the current study
Materials and Methods
Field Site9
Sampling Scheme
Bioassays
DNA Extraction
Library Preparation
Bioinformatics
Data Analysis
Results
EM Fungi Community Composition15
Percent Colonization, Distance, and Biomass
Discussion
Appendices
Bibliography

List of Tables

Table 1: Relative abundance of each EM fungal species at each distance class	16
Table 2: Summary results of ANOVA type III test between percent colonization bioassays, total and distance from the plantation	biomass, 20

List of Figures

Figure 1: Heatmap with relative abundance of each ectomycorrhizal fungal species in each of the distance classes
Figure 2: NMDS ordination of ectomycorrhizal fungal community similarity among distance classes
Figure 3: Bray Curtis ectomycorrhizal fungal community dissimilarity values compared to the log of the distance between sampling points
Figure 4: Percent ectomycorrhizal fungal colonization of <i>Pinus radiata</i> bioassays regressed against distance along the transects from the plantation
Figure 5: Percent ectomycorrhizal fungal colonization of <i>Pinus radiata</i> bioassays regressed against total bioassay biomass

Introduction

The increasing worldwide prevalence of invasive and introduced animals, plants, and microbial species has brought about numerous ecological concerns. These concerns range from the rapid loss of biodiversity due to competition with invasive species, further degradation of already polluted and climate impacted ecosystems, and negative impacts to ecosystem services, all of which negatively impact local flora and fauna, including humans (Pyšek & Richardson, 2010; Vitousek et al., 1996). Not only are invasive species a source of major ecological harm, but they also generate serious economic costs. In 2011, it was estimated that invasive species cost the United States \$219 billion, the top costs being managing crop pests and weeds as well as treating human diseases (Pimentel, 2011). By understanding how and why invasive species spread, as well as how to control and eradicate them, billions of dollars could be saved.

Although much of the attention surrounding invasive species is focused on their environmental impacts and costs such as loss of revenue, invasive species can also impact human health and culture. The impacts of invasive species on humans are numerous, including decreased access to drinking water due to the increased water demands of invasive plants, decreased food yields due to pests and pathogens, and decreases in recreational activities like hiking because of the presence of irritating trail plants (Pejchar & Mooney, 2009). All the many negative impacts of invasive species increase motivations to slow their spread.

Invasive plant species around the world have been introduced both by accident, such as on the shoes of hikers along trails, and on purpose, for use in agriculture or as ornamentals (Foxcroft et al., 2019). The introductions of these non-native plant species have led to significant impacts on plant communities, soil, and fire regimes worldwide (Pyšek et al., 2012). Invasive species are particularly problematic on islands, like Hawai'i, due to their large number of endemic species. There are roughly 1,039 native plant species in Hawai'i, with 940 of those found nowhere else in the world (Price & Wagner, 2018). Yet, there are now an estimated 1,652 naturalized plant species in Hawai'i, meaning over half of the plant species found in the Hawaiian Islands are non-native (Imada, 2019).

When plant species are introduced to a new habitat, there are several important hurdles that must be passed before those species become invasive. These steps include: colonization within their new environment by surviving abiotic conditions, establishment of the species in the

environment by overcoming biotic interactions, and finally, landscape spread by dispersal out into the new environment (Blackburn et al., 2011; Theoharides & Dukes, 2007). Once a species has successfully made it over this final hurdle, control and eradication is much more difficult. Further research that aids in the production of active management strategies is essential for stopping introduced species from becoming invasive and keeping those that already are considered invasive in check for the protection of native ecosystems (Larson et al., 2011).

Pine Invasions and Ectomycorrhizal Fungi

Pine trees (family Pinaceae) are just one of the many invasive plants causing major ecological and economic harm across the world, especially in the sub-tropics and Southern Hemisphere (Nuñez et al., 2017; Richardson et al., 1994). Pines are largely native to the Northern Hemisphere in temperate climates, ranging from North America to Western Asia (Keeley, 2012). Pine plantations are used to produce timber and pulp for construction, furniture, and paper making. To meet demands for timber and tree products, pines were intentionally planted into plantations to increase wood yields. As lumber needs continued to grow in the 19th century, pine plantations began being planted in the Southern Hemisphere to create more local sources of timber (Richardson et al., 1994). After initial planting and establishment, many of these new plantations thrived. As an unintended consequence, many pines have dispersed beyond their initial plantation boundaries and are now invading into native ecosystems throughout the Southern Hemisphere and in parts of the tropics. In fact, Pinaceae is considered the most invasive conifer family on earth (Richardson & Rejmánek, 2004). Large scale pine plantations in places like South Africa, New Zealand, and South America are the sources for pine invasions in these regions. There is often a lag between planting and invasion, but once pines begin entering new habitats, they are difficult to control and eradicate (Simberloff et al., 2010). Invasive pines have led to a variety of negative ecological impacts including decreased overall native plant richness, native plant density, and potentially decreases native arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal richness where they invade (Brewer et al., 2018; Franzese et al., 2017; Gazol et al., 2016).

Although pines are very successful invaders, they require the aid of belowground mutualists, known as ectomycorrhizal (EM) fungi (Nuñez et al., 2009). These fungal symbionts largely belong to the Basidiomycota and Ascomycota and grow within and around the roots of their plant host, promoting the exchange of resources between the two partners. The host plant

provides carbon via photosynthesis in exchange for access to growth limiting soil nutrients, like nitrogen and phosphorus, which the EM fungus has greater physical and chemical access to in the soil than the plant's roots alone (Smith & Read, 2008). In areas like Hawai'i and South Africa, where pines are currently invading, there are no known native pine associated EM fungi (Hayward & Hynson, 2014; Wood, 2017). In fact, several pine plantations in Africa were not able to establish initially due to the lack of appropriate EM fungi (Richardson et al., 1994). Once soil from areas containing pine associated ectomycorrhizal symbionts was introduced, the plantations were able to establish and pines escape (Richardson et al., 1994).

Plant-EM fungal symbioses are horizontally transferred; meaning, the host and symbionts disperse independently and must come into contact in the environment to form the symbiosis. When the root of a plant host encounters an EM fungal spore or hyphae in the soil, the mycorrhizal symbiosis can form (Smith & Read, 2008). Only 2% of all flowering plants species are considered EM, but most of those species are obligately mycorrhizal, meaning that in order for the plant host or fungus to survive, they must establish this symbiosis (Brundrett & Tedersoo, 2018). Pinaceae is one of these obligately ectomycorrhizal families and for any invasion to occur, this symbiosis must establish (Nuñez et al., 2009).

Pine Co-Invasions

For plants that form obligate symbioses with belowground microorganisms, like pines and their EM fungal symbionts, the ways in which either partner can invade into new environments are intimately tied to the success and dispersal of their symbionts. There are key factors about the host plants, mycorrhizal fungi, and the environment that dictate whether an invasion will occur and be successful, including the range of mycorrhizal partners that a host plant can have (Pringle et al., 2009). Although pines require EM fungi in order to survive and thrive, pines can associate with more than one species of EM fungi, especially within their native ranges (Barroetaveña et al., 2007). Several studies have shown that the EM fungal species associating with pines within and around a forest or plantation differ from those associating with pines away from high density pine environments (Hynson et al., 2013; Urcelay et al., 2017). However, only a single species of EM fungus is needed to enable a pine invasion into a new environment (Hayward, Horton, Pauchard, et al., 2015; Santolamazza-Carbone et al., 2019). Therefore, if there is at least one suitable EM fungal partner, pines have the potential to invade.

Another factor that influences the success of plant-fungal invasions is the quality of the relationship between partners. The amount of resource exchange between partners can vary depending on the species involved and the environmental conditions (Bogar & Peay, 2017). EM fungi that aid in the uptake of nutrients and water at the lowest carbon cost to the plant benefit plant host the most and are considered higher quality partners, and may be preferably selected by the plant host (Dickie, 2007; Rasmussen et al., 2017). However, the strongest competitor between EM fungal species may not always be the highest quality fungal partner for a plant host. For example, in order to test for a potential tradeoff between interspecies competition and nutritional acquisition function, one study measured the amount of extracellular enzymes and defense chemicals produced by three different EM fungal species when inoculated into *P. muricata* alone and together. They found that the weakest ectomycorrhizal competitor, *Suillus pungens*, had the highest enzymatic levels in relation to the other species in the study suggesting that there may be a tradeoff between symbiotic competition and symbiotic function (Moeller & Peay, 2016).

The dispersal capabilities of fungal symbionts are another feature that can greatly determine the invasion potential and invasion rate of the plant host. For EM fungi, dispersal distance can range from centimeters to kilometers away (Horton, 2017). Despite this range of distances, one study found that 95% of basidiospores from six EM fungal species fell within one meter of the basidiocarps, indicating that long distance dispersal events are relatively rare (Galante et al., 2011). For pines to invade a habitat, they need to encounter either EM fungal mycelia or spores, most of which should be found very close to their original EM fungal source. While many spores are wind dispersed, some are dispersed via mycophagy by mammals. In fact, non-native mammals feces in New Zealand have been shown to contain the spores of non-native EM fungi species, likely aiding in the invasion of conifers such as *P. contorta* and *Pseudotsuga menzeiesii* (Wood et al., 2015)

Finally, the type of association between plant host and ectomycorrhizal fungal symbiont can influence the success of the plant invasion. For example, an invasive plant could encounter a potential symbiont that is considered a "familiar association". This occurs when a symbiont found in the plant's native range is also found in the new environment and can help facilitate the plant's survival (Dickie et al., 2017). If there are symbionts native to an environment that can associate with the introduced plant, but not found to associate with the host in its native range

this is known as a novel association, and if both species are introduced from different regions but can associate, this is known as a co-xenic novel association. The final way for this symbiosis to occur is if both symbionts are introduced together from the same environment, also known as a co-introduction or co-invasion (Dickie et al., 2017).

Co-invasions occur when a plant host establishes in an environment due to their symbionts either arriving with them or they are already present due to prior introduction. EM fungal spores can remain viable in the soil spore bank for at least six years, and potentially longer (Nguyen et al., 2012). This suggests that if EM fungal spores are introduced into an environment, such as soil transferred from another location, they could potentially await a pine host. Pines are often intentionally and unintentionally introduced with EM inoculum. This could be by way of an intact root system that already has EM associations, or with soil that contains EM spores or mycelium (Nuñez et al., 2009; Richardson et al., 1994). Having symbionts already present enables pines to invade out into the environment much more quickly.

When studying woody plant invasions, most invasive woody plants are mycorrhizal and co-invasions with EM fungi were found to be relatively common (Nuñez & Dickie, 2014). Specifically, the invasion of *Pinus* species appears to be dominated by co-invasions (Dickie et al., 2010). Many successful invasions by pines are thought to be due to a co-introduction of pines with their associated EM fungi and have been documented in New Zealand, Argentina, Hawai'i, and Chile, among other locales (Dickie et al., 2010; Hayward, Horton, Pauchard, et al., 2015; Hynson et al., 2013).

In their native ranges, pines typically associate with a wide range of different EM fungal species but when invading a new environment, one particular group of EM fungi is always present: suilloid fungi (Policelli et al., 2019; D. Lee Taylor et al., 2014). In fact, a review of global pine invasions found that suilloid fungi are likely the main EM fungi driving pine invasions (Policelli et al., 2019). The suilloid group is a monophyletic lineage containing *Suillus, Rhizopogon, Gomphidius, Chroogomphus*, among others (Bruns et al., 1998). Most suilloid species associate specifically with members of the Pinaceae (Bruns et al., 2002), and suilloid species are consistently associated with pines individuals that are the furthest from the initial pine source, whether it is a native forest or plantation (Policelli et al., 2019). Often, these are areas without established EM fungal mycelium, meaning for pine seedlings to become inoculated with EM fungi, they must be colonized by spores (Nguyen et al., 2012; Policelli et al., 2019).

Suilloid fungi have several traits that are believed to explain their frequent association with invasive pines. This group of fungi invests more energy into producing spores and basidiocarps than many other groups, and those spores are often wind dispersed, allowing them to increase their chances of dispersing further from the basidiocarp (Peay et al., 2012). Some species are also dispersed by mammals, which eat the basidiocarps, and deposit viable spores in their feces into the soil (Ashkannejhad & Horton, 2006; Policelli et al., 2019; Wood et al., 2015). Boars that have been shown carrying suilloid spores in their feces can travel up to 12 km in a day, which could lead to spore being disperse very far from their original source (Nuñez et al., 2013). Suilloid spores can also survive for a minimum of 6 years when deposited in the soil, with recent unpublished work showing spore survival up to 15 years (Bruns et al., 2009; Nguyen et al., 2012; Nguyen, 2021). Once pine germlings find the spores in the soil, the spores are quick to germinate and colonize the young plant roots (Dahlberg & Finlay, 1999). It has also been shown that suilloid species produce more of the enzymes necessary to breakdown soil for nutrient acquisition, while also exploring the soil further than other EM fungal species to find these soil pockets of nutrients (Moeller & Peay, 2016; Peay et al., 2011). These resources can then be exchanged with their pine hosts, making them higher quality partners. All these traits of suilloid fungi dispersal, longevity and symbiont efficiency are believed to be aiding in the ability of pines to invade across the world (Policelli et al., 2019).

Pinus radiata

One such tree that is co-invading into new habitats with the help of EM fungi is *Pinus radiata* (Walbert et al., 2010). *Pinus radiata*, or Monterey pine, is a fast-growing species of pine that is widely grown for lumber. The native range of *P. radiata* is limited to three locations: Santa Cruz, the Monterey Peninsula, and San Luis Obispo Counties (Millar, 1999). Monterey pine grows up to 30 m tall in the wild and can live up to 90 years (Cope, 1993), it is considered a closed-cone pine and with serotinous cones (Linhart, 1978).

Interestingly, *P. radiata* is considered endangered in its native range (IUCN, 2021). Monterey pine's decline is largely due to various pathogens. Outside of *P. radiata*'s native range, it has been introduced in places like Australia, South Africa, and New Zealand for timber (Richardson & Rejmánek, 2004). While a successful source of lumber in many of these locations, *P. radiata* has also escaped out into these new environments and is often considered invasive (Richardson, 1998).

Pinus radiata was introduced to the Hawaiian Islands as a potential local source of timber for the islands (Little & Skolmen, 1989). It was grown in plantations on every island except for O'ahu (Little & Skolmen, 1989). One of these plantations is in the present-day Kula Forest Reserve located on the leeward side of Haleakalā on Maui. It was originally a native forest and shrub-land, which included plants like koa (*Acacia koa*), 'ōhi'a (*Metrosideros polymorpha*), and pūkiawe (*Leptecophylla tameiameiae*). In the late 1880s, this area was converted into pastureland for grazing until 1912, when it was converted into a forest reserve. During the 1930s – 1950s, instead of attempting to convert the land back into a native forest, the land was used to grow various economically valuable trees, including *P. radiata*, in hopes that it could be used for timber (State of Hawai'i Department of Land and Natural Resources, 2017).

After the plantations were abandoned and no longer maintained, the pines began dispersing out into remaining intact native bunchgrass vegetation and shrublands. *Pinus radiata* individuals are now spreading up towards the summit of Haleakalā, which is known for its endangered endemic species, like the Hawaiian silversword (*Argyroxiphium sandwicense* subsp. *macrocephalum*), and if left unchecked will likely convert the native shrubland into a coniferous forest (Loope et al., 1992). Between 2008 and 2018, land managers spent \$1.5 million on pine control on Maui (Mallinson, 2018). In order to protect Haleakalā's unique ecosystem and reduce costs, land managers are eager to better understand how these pines are spreading and what could be used to stop them.

Like other *Pinus* species, *P. radiata* requires EM fungal symbionts to survive and thrive. There are no known pine-associated EM fungi species native to Hawai'i (Hayward & Hynson, 2014). This suggests that the EM fungi associated with *P. radiata* were concurrently introduced (Hynson et al., 2013). This "co-invasion" scenario is similar to other regions where non-native pines have only successfully established when their requisite EM fungi were co-introduced (Dickie et al., 2010). Previous research by Hynson et al. (2013), determined the diversity and distribution of *P. radiata*'s co-invading EM fungi in Hawai'i and found that there is a viable resident EM fungal spore bank stretching at least 1000 m away from pine plantations. While *P. radiata* can associate with many EM fungal species in its native range, similar to other regions where pines have invaded, this isolated spore bank is primarily made up of two pine-specific *Suillus* species (Dickie et al., 2010; Hynson et al., 2013). This suggests that *Suillus* and other long-distance dispersal EM fungal species can disperse out beyond the visible pine invasions and lie in wait for the arrival of new *P. radiata* to colonize.

Premise of the current study

While it is known that the composition of the EM fungal community associating with *P*. *radiata* changes with distance from the plantation, it is unclear how change in EM fungal community composition impacts the success of *P. radiata*. This is important in order to understand the ways in which EM fungal species may be aiding pine seedlings establishment and ability to thrive. If we can understand how specific EM fungal species are affecting pine success and the patterns in which they are dispersing across the landscape, we may be able to develop better management strategies for slowing this pine's spread.

To observe the fungal community associating with pine seedlings at the Kula Forest Reserve and measure any differences in *P. radiata* seedlings based on the where in this landscape the seedling grew, soil collected from the Kula Forest Reserve pine invasion was used to grow *P. radiata* seedling bioassays. In this study, I tested how increasing distance from the plantation influences (1) the community composition of EM fungal partners of *P. radiata*, (2) the percent colonization of EM fungi on *P. radiata* roots, and (3) the relationship between colonization and total seedling biomass. To do so, *P. radiata* bioassays were grown in a greenhouse with soil collected from the plantation and at various distances up to 2000 m and their roots were analyzed for percent colonization and EM fungal composition. This allowed me to identify which species of EM fungi were present within and around the plantation and compare the EM fungal community to those that occurred at the farthest distances away, while also being able to measure whether there were any significant changes in percent colonization or biomass of the seedlings.

As the distance from the plantation increases, I hypothesized that there would be a significant decrease in EM species richness. I expected the community composition of EM fungi to be significantly different, with the EM fungal community within and near the plantation to be dominated by species that colonize via hyphae and are better competitors and the further distances being largely composed of EM fungi that colonize via spores and are not as

competitive, such as suilloid species, like *Suillus* spp. I also predicted that there would be decreased inoculum potential with increasing distance from the plantation, which would, in turn, lead to a decrease in percent colonization and biomass of *P. radiata* bioassays with distance from the plantation.

Materials and Methods

Field Site

The Kula Forest Reserve is located on the island of Maui on the leeward side of Haleakalā. The reserve ranges from 1,158 to 2,895 meters in elevation. Frequent fog across the reserve contributes greatly to the 83.82 to 101.6 centimeters of annual precipitation. Temperatures range from 5.56 °C – 18.89 °C throughout the year, with an average temperature of 12.22 °C (Lawrimore et al., 2016). There are nine different soil types across the reserve, but the most abundant type is Andisols (State of Hawai'i Department of Land and Natural Resources, 2017). Historically, this site contained native subalpine shrublands and native bunchgrass vegetation. Starting in 1924, stands of tropical ash (*Fraxinus uhdei*), redwood (*Sequoia sempervirens*), maritime pine (*P. pinaster*), Monterey pine (*P. radiata*), and others were planted in the reserve (State of Hawai'i Department of Land and Natural Resources, 2017). Between the edge of the *P. radiata* plantation and 500 m from the plantation, there is a mixture of escaped *P. radiata* individuals, non-native vegetation, and native vegetation. At around 500 m from the margins of the plantation the vegetation shifts into dominantly native vegetation such as *Sophora chrysophylla*, *Metrosideros polymorpha*, *Dodonaea viscosa*, and *Leptecophylla tameiameiae* (State of Hawai'i Department of Land and Natural Resources, 2017).

This site was chosen because there is an active *P. radiata* invasion occurring and to further prior investigations of EM fungi associating with *P. radiata* (Hynson et al., 2013).

Sampling Scheme

Soil sampling occurred October 15 - 18, 2018. Four transects perpendicular from the plantation edge were established at three distances from each transect: 10 m between the first and second transect, 100 m between the second and third transect, and 250 m and between the third and fourth transect. Soil samples were taken at regular intervals: within the plantation, at the

invasion front (on average 304 m from the plantation sampling point), and then an additional 100 m, 500 m, 1000 m, and 2000 m from the invasion front, along each transect. Past ~500 m from the invasion front individual invading pines are rare and absent by 1000 m. Locations were recorded using handheld GPSs (Garmin GPSmap 64s and eTrex 10). Roughly one liter of soil was collected from each interval using a trowel that had been sterilized with 70% EtOH before each use and put into a Ziploc bag, in total there were ~24 liters of soil sampled from the four transects.

Soil was also collected from outside of the plantation (~2000 m away from the nearest soil collection point), but from the same soil type, to be used as a negative control for our bioassay experiment (see below). Collected soil was transported on ice and kept in a cooler until being transferred to an 8°C cold room at the University of Hawai'i at Mānoa where we set up the greenhouse bioassay experiment. Mature *P. radiata* cones were collected from the plantation to use as a seed source for the bioassays.

Bioassays

Pinecones were heated overnight at ~40 °C to open the cones and release the seeds. The seeds were then removed from the cones, dewinged using sterile forceps, and surface sterilized in 500 ml of 30% hydrogen peroxide and three drops of Tween 20 and stirred for 20 minutes. The sterilized seeds were then rinsed 3x with 400 ml of sterilized water (Hynson et al., 2013). Using sterile technique, the seeds were placed onto moist filter paper into a petri dish and put into a growth chamber on a 12h h : 12 h light : dark cycle at 23.5 °C and allowed to germinate for at least 2 weeks before planting.

To test the EM fungi inoculum potential of this landscape without planting invasive *P*. *radiata* directly into the soil, greenhouse bioassays of field collected soil and pine seedlings were used to represent our site. Bioassays were set up using 115 ml volume Cone-tainers (Stewe and Son Tangent, OR, USA). Poly-fill was used to fill the drainage holes to prevent soil loss followed by a layer of autoclaved sterilized sand. Each tube was marked with a printed label indicating transect and distance. There were eight replicate bioassays for each sample point along the transects for a total of 192 bioassays. We also set up negative controls for the transects using twice autoclaved field soil that was collected ~2,000 m from the nearest sample point, for a grand total of 224 bioassays.

Each tube was filled with ~75 ml of field soil in preparation for planting. Soils from different distance classes were separated by at least one row in Cone-tainer racks to prevent any cross-contamination. One to three germinated seeds were then planted into each tube using sterilized forceps and then topped with between 1 to 2.5 cm of sterilized sand as an additional measure to prevent cross-contamination. Bioassays were grown in the greenhouse under ambient light and temperatures and watered twice daily using an automated sprinkler system and trays were rotated weekly. After 18 weeks from initial planting tubes were thinned to one seedling. Those that had no surviving seedlings were replanted with three germinated seeds up to three times. All bioassays were planted within 33 days of soil collection. Bioassays were grown for at least six months within the greenhouse before harvesting.

Bioassays were analyzed in the order of when the last seeds were planted, i.e. the oldest seedlings were harvested first. In the lab, the top layer of sand was removed, the roots rinsed with tap water to remove Poly-fill and soil. Once clean, the bioassay roots were kept in a beaker of water until they were analyzed. Bioassay shoots were cut just above the first set of roots and placed into a labeled envelope and dried in a drying oven until there was no detectable additional water loss (72 h) and then weighed to the nearest 1 mg. The roots were then analyzed using the Bubriski "Scoring Percent Colonization" protocol (Bubriski, 2012). To estimate the number of root tips that I needed to count to get a representative sample of the entire root system of each bioassay, the following steps were taken for one bioassay from each distance class from a single transect. A clear small plastic tray was divided into six sections numbered one through six and filled halfway with water. The roots of a bioassay were then cut into six sections and placed randomly into one of the sections of the tray. Then, a random section of the root system was placed under a dissecting scope in a large petri dish of water. Every colonized and uncolonized root tip was counted using a tally counter. This was repeated for each of the six sections. The percent colonization of the entire root system was calculated by dividing the number of root tips colonized by the total number of root tips multiplied by 100, this was repeated for each of the bioassays from each distance class. The average percent colonization was calculated as 65% and from this number I calculated how many root tips needed to be counted to reach this average, which was 185 root tips. The rest of the bioassays were then analyzed by dividing the root system into the plastic tray and using a random number generator to look at random sections. The number of colonized and number of uncolonized root tips were counted and recorded until

185 total root tips were observed. The ratio of colonized root tips to total root tips counted per bioassay was recorded as "percent colonization". After, roots were placed into a labeled and tared 50 ml tube, frozen at -20 °C for at least 24 h, followed by -80 °C for at least two hours, lyophilized, weighed to the nearest mg, and stored for future molecular analyses. Root and shoot biomass measurements were then added together to calculate the total bioassay biomass.

DNA Extraction

To extract DNA from the bioassay roots, I used the Macherey-Nagel Genomic DNA from plant kit (MACHEREY-NAGEL Inc., PA, USA) and followed their protocol with the following modifications. Lyophilized roots were first homogenized using ~3.5 g of Fisherbrand 2.8 mm sterilized ceramic beads, then $10 \text{ mg} \pm 1 \text{ mg}$ of the homogenized roots were added into 2 ml extraction tubes. Ninety-one extraction tubes filled with homogenized roots were haphazardly arranged into 96 well plates along with three randomly placed empty extraction tubes (extraction negatives), along with a positive control (previously extracted DNA of Penicillium sp.) and one remaining space for a PCR negative control at the end of the plate. Then, 10 µL of RNase A was added to each tube along with the 500 µL of MC 1 Lysis buffer. The next modification occurred during step 2 where we transferred 400 µL of lysate to a sterile Kingfisher Deep Well Plate. The plate was then centrifuged for 6 minutes at 14,000 rpm to help remove any unwanted particulates. The lysate was then transferred to the Bind Plate (Charm Biotech, MO, USA). I used 100 µL of the MC 6 Elution Buffer in the Elution plates. The KingFisher automated pipetting machine (Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., MA, USA) was used to complete the DNA extraction process. I then transferred the 50 µL of the eluted DNA product into two 96-well PCR microplates which were stored at -20°C.

Library Preparation

PCR was performed according to the following procedure: a master mix of 12.5 μ L of 2X KAPA 3G buffer, 1.5 μ L of MgCl₂, 0.075 μ L both of forward and reverse primers, 0.20 μ L of KAPA 3G polymerase, and 8.05 μ L of deionized water was made. 25 μ L of master mix was then added to each of the PCR plate wells. 2 μ L of the DNA template was added to each reaction along with the barcoded primers. The plates were then sealed with foil and placed in the

thermocycler at the following cycling conditions: 95° C for 3 minutes; 35 cycles alternating between 95° C for 20 seconds, 53° C for 15 seconds, and 72° C for 30 seconds; then held at 72° C for 3 minutes until finally being held between $4 - 10^{\circ}$ C. An agarose gel was then run to determine the size and quantity of PCR product produced.

The Advanced Studies in Genomics, Proteomics and Bioinformatics Laboratory at the University of Hawai'i at Mānoa sequenced the library on a single run using the Illumina sequencing platform (Miseq V3 600 cycle). A dual index approach was used with 8 bp barcodes on both primers (Illumina Inc., CA, USA).

Bioinformatics

The sequencing run resulted in 19,483,767 reads that were analyzed through the MetaFlowmics for demultiplexing and ITS pipeline (Arisdakessian et al., 2020). This pipeline first extracts the ITS region using ITSxpress (Rivers et al., 2018). Contigs are filtered by removing those smaller than 20 base pairs as wells as any containing 'N' nucleotides and then filtered for quality through the Fastx-toolkit (Hannon, 2010). Chimeras are removed using VSEARCH (Rognes et al., 2016). DADA2 was used for error models and denoising (Callahan et al., 2016). Operational taxonomic units (OTUs) were clustered at 97% similarity using VSEARCH. Finally, co-occurrence pattern correction was done using LULU (Frøslev et al., 2017). After these various quality control steps, the amplicon library was left with 9,861,224 reads. OTUs with fewer than three reads were manually removed, leaving 1,100 OTUs (Nguyen et al., 2015).

To assign taxonomy to the OTUs, the seed sequences were run through both the UNITE and the NCBI databases using the Basic Local Alignment Search Tool (Nilsson et al., 2019). Because it is a curated database, taxonomic assignments from UNITE were given preference over NCBI. Our cut off for bit score was 250 and E values less than 1.00E-50. Following Tedersoo et al. 2014, taxonomic assignments were made using the following criterion: \geq 95% sequence identity for species, \geq 90% sequence identity for genus, and \geq 85% sequence identity for family. OTUs that could not be assigned beyond family were removed, with family being the minimum taxonomic distinction needed to determine EM status, leaving 600 OTUs.

To filter only EM fungi species, I compared the taxonomies to lists of known EM fungi species and ran the taxonomies through FUNGuild (Nguyen et al., 2016; Tedersoo et al., 2010;

Tedersoo & Smith, 2013). Any OTUs not matching these lists or not marked as "ectomycorrhizal" were removed. The remaining EM fungal OTUs were then run through MUSCLE sequencing alignment (Edgar, 2004) for each genus with more than one OTU, due to multiple OTUs being labeled the same species. This resulted in two *Tylospora* spp. OTUs being merged due to their close similarity (Supplemental Table 4). *Suillus* spp. were run against a global *Suillus* phylogeny including fully sequenced genomes, leading to two OTUs being merged for *S. brevipes* and three OTUs merged for *S. pungens* (Vilgalys, 2020). This left 20 EM fungal OTUs remaining. There were eight EM fungi OTUs detected within our negative control extraction samples. In order to control for potential contamination, the highest read count per OTU from all the extraction negative controls was subtracted from all of the samples (Nguyen et al., 2015) (Supplemental Table 2). There were four EM fungi OTUs detected within our negative bioassay controls. The read count of the top contaminant, *Trichophaea* sp. 1, made up only 0.4% of the total average reads for this taxon per non-control bioassays, and therefore were still included (Supplemental Table 3).

Data Analysis

For data analysis I used R (R version 4.0.2) statistical software program (R Core Team, 2020). To examine the relationship between distance from the plantation, biomass of the pine seedlings, and the percent colonization of seedling roots by EM fungi, I used a general linear model. A type III ANOVA was used to test for statistical significance at an $\alpha \leq 0.05$. Percent colonization was then regressed against each distance class and seedling biomass for each bioassay. Bioassay age was also positively correlated to percent colonization, as well as distance from the plantation, but when included in the linear model, age was not significant, therefore any effect of age should also be accounted for by distance from the plantation.

To examine the diversity and community composition of EM fungi in my dataset, I pooled sample reads by distance and calculated the average richness at each distance class along the four transects. An ANOVA was run to test for significance between richness and distance and another to test for significance between richness and seedling biomass. Richness was then regressed against each distance class and seedling biomass for the pooled samples. A heat map was generated to observe the change in the relative abundance of each EM fungal species across the distance classes, using the *pheatmap* package (Kolde, 2015).

To test for dissimilarity in community composition across distance from the plantation, Bray-Curtis values were calculated using the *vegan* package (Oksanen et al., 2019). A PERMANOVA was used to test for a significant relationship between distance and community dissimilarity. The *vegan* and *phyloseq* packages were used to generate an NMDS ordination of the community based on the Bray-Curtis values and the different distance classes, (McMurdie & Holmes, 2013). To test for the contribution of dispersion of the Bray-Curtis values within a distance class relative to other distance classes a beta dispersion test was conducted. A regression was done to show the relationship between community dissimilarity and log of the distance between points.

Results

EM Fungi Community Composition

Of the 190 bioassay roots analyzed, there were ~1400 OTUs identified. Once OTUs with fewer than three reads were removed, ~1,100 OTUs remained. According to FUNGuild, 40% of OTUs could not be assigned to a guild. Most OTUs could not be classified to species or genus, which limited FUNGuild's ability classify those OTUs with just one guild, but ~56% of the OTUs were marked as some type of saprotroph, followed by ~25% pathogen,~12% endophyte, ~9.5% parasite, ~5% ectomycorrhizal, and ~4% arbuscular mycorrhizal (Supplemental Table 6). After filtering for only EM fungal species based on the reports by Tedersoo and Smith in addition to FUNGuild and removing bioassay and DNA extraction negative control contaminants, only 20 OTUs were found (Supplemental Table 5).

A total of five suilloid species were found along the transects: *Rhizopogon*. cf. *mohelnensis*, *R*. cf. *salebrosus*, *S. brevipes*, *S. luteus*, and *S. pungens*. *Suillus brevipes* was found in every transect for the 500 m, 1000 m, and 2000 m distance classes, where it peaked in relative abundance, making up 92% of the OTU sequences (Table 1). *Suillus brevipes* was also present at somewhat low levels, 7% relative abundance, at the 100 m distance class within transect 2 and 4, and at the invasion front distance class within transect 3 (Table 1, Supplemental Table 5). *Suillus pungens* was the most widespread suilloid species, occurring at a minimum of one transect for each distance class and peaked in relative abundance with 53% of the OTU sequences at the 500 m distance class (Table 1, Figure 1, Supplemental Table 5). *Suillus pungens* generally increased

with distance from the plantation, until the 500 m distance class, where *S. brevipes* began to dominate, but remained present even at 2000 m from the plantation with 7% relative abundance (Table 1). *Suillus luteus* was only found in transect 2 in the 500 m distance class, where it had a relative abundance of 10% (Supplemental Table 5). *Rhizopogon* cf. *mohelnensis* was found within the plantation in each transect except for transect 1 and within the invasion front at transects 1 and 2. *Rhizopogon* cf. *salebrosus* was only found within transect 1 and 2 in the 100 m distance class. Both species of *Rhizopogon* maintained relative abundances less than or equal to 1% (Supplemental Table 5).

	Plantation	Invasion Front	100 m	500 m	1000 m	2000 m
Rhizopogon cf. mohelnensis	< 0.001	0.004836	0	0	0	0
Rhizopogon cf. salebrosus	0	0	< 0.001	0	0	0
Sistotrema sp.	0	0	0	0	< 0.001	0
Suillus brevipes	0	0.07081	0.07341	0.2647	0.6312	0.9207
Suillus luteus	0	0	0	0.02460	0	0
Suillus pungens	0.01139	0.3012	0.3089	0.5278	0.1835	0.07795
Thelephora cf. terrestris	0.08561	0.1644	0.01250	0.1474	0.01800	< 0.001
Tomentella cf. lateritia	0.06760	0	0	0	0	0
Trichophaea sp. 1	0.4238	0.2984	0.5742	0.02875	0.06397	0
Trichophaea sp. 2	0	0.03231	0	0	0	0
Trichophaea sp. 3	< 0.001	< 0.001	0	0	0	0
Trichophaea sp. 4	< 0.001	< 0.001	0	0	0	0
Trichophaea sp. 5	0	< 0.001	0	0	0	0
Tylospora sp. 1	0.001434	0.04345	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.01906	< 0.001
Tylospora sp. 2	0	0.01237	< 0.001	0.005898	0.08321	0.001076
Tylospora sp. 3	0	< 0.001	0	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001
Tylospora sp. 4	0	0	0	0	< 0.001	0
Tylospora sp. 5	0	< 0.001	0	0	0	0
Wilcoxina sp. 1	0.4100	0.0710	0.03090	0	0	0
Wilcoxina sp. 2	< 0.001	< 0.001	0	0	0	0

Table 1: Average relative abundance of each ectomycorrhizal fungal sequences observed in this study. Distance classes are pooled by transect, with increasing distance from the invasive P. radiata plantation at the Kula Forest Reserve.

There were four other Agaricomycetes genera found in this study: *Sistotrema*, *Thelephora*, *Tomentella*, and *Tylospora* (Table 1, Figure 1). One species of *Sistotrema* was found, only occurring at the 1000 m distance class within transect 4 with less than 1% relative abundance (Table 1, Figure 1). *Thelephora* cf. *terrestris* was found in at least two transect at every distance class (Supplemental Table 5). The relative abundance of *T. c.f. terrestris* varied

across the distance classes, peaking within the invasion front at 16% and then the 500 m distance class at 15%, before quickly decreasing to less than 1% at the 2000 m distance class (Table 1, Figure 1). *Tomentella* c.f. *laeterita* was only detected within the plantation within transects 2 and 3 with a relative abundance of 7% (Table 1, Supplemental Table 5). Finally, there were five species of *Tylospora* found throughout the study site. *Tylospora* sp. 1 was found in at least one transect of every distance class, but always maintained a relative abundance of less than 2% (Table 1, Supplemental Table 5). *Tylospora* sp. 2 appeared within the invasion front and beyond, peaking at the 1000 m distance class with an 8% relative abundance (Table 1). *Tylospora* sp. 3 was found within the transect 4 invasion front and transect 2 500 m distance classes, as well as two transects for the 1000 m and 2000 m distance classes, but never with a relative abundance greater than 1% (Table 1, Supplemental Table 5). Both *Tylospora* sp. 4 and 5 were each found at single distance classes, 1000 m, and the invasion front, respectively with less than 1% relative abundance (Table 1).

Two genera from the Pezizales were found in this study site: *Trichophaea* and *Wilcoxina*. Five OTUs of *Trichophaea* were detected, with *Trichophaea* sp. 1 being the most prevalent one. *Trichophaea* sp. 1 occurred within every transect in the plantation and invasion front, and 100 m distance classes, except for transect 4 100 m, and then was only found at transect 2 500 m and transect 4 1000 m (Supplemental Table 5). The relative abundance of *Trichophaea* sp. 1 was the greatest with 57% at the 100 m before falling to the single digits for the 500 m and 1000 m distance classes (Table 1). None of the other *Trichophaea* species were found beyond the invasion front distance class and never above 3.2% relative abundance (Table 1, Figure 1). *Wilcoxina* was found within the plantation, invasion front, and 100 m distance classes, but only within one transect each (Table 1, Supplemental Table 5). *Wilcoxina* sp. 1 was the second most abundant species within the plantation with 41% relative abundance, before greatly decreasing in relative abundance beyond (Table 1, Figure 1). *Wilcoxina* sp. 2 made up less than 1% of the OTU reads within the plantation and invasion front distance classes (Table 1, Figure 1).



Figure 1: Heatmap of the average relative abundance of each ectomycorrhizal fungal sequences observed in this study. Distance classes are pooled by transect, with increasing distance from the invasive P. radiata plantation at the Kula Forest Reserve. Color represents the differences in average relative abundance. Red hues indicate a relative abundance closer to 1 while light blue and white hues are closer to 0 or no abundance.

The results of the PERMAONVA test were highly significant (p < 0.001, Supplemental Table 8), indicating that there is a significant relationship between distance and EM fungi community composition. In the NMDS plot, samples from the 2000 m point form a tight cluster relative to all other distance classes, whereas the invasion front shows the most dispersion, encompassing almost all other points (Figure 2). The 2000 m cluster is nested within the 1000 m cluster which is then largely nested within the 500 m point and invasion front point, indicating that the species found within the 2000 m distance class are also found within the 1000 m distance class, and all those species are largely found within the 500 m distance class. The plantation is nestled within the invasion front and roughly half of the plantation ellipses overlaps with the 100 m distance class. Overall, the similarity of EM fungal community composition decreased with distance from the plantation ($F_{1,149} = 22.9$, p < 0.001, Figure 3).



Figure 2: NMDS ordination of ectomycorrhizal fungal community similarity. Each point represents the community found within one P. radiata bioassay grown in soil taken from increasing distances along transects away from the P. radiata plantation at the Kula Forest Reserve. Color represents each distance class. Points more closely together have more similar ectomycorrhizal communities than those further apart.



Figure 3: Bray-Curtis ectomycorrhizal fungal community dissimilarity values compared to the log of the distance between sampling points. Trend line shows significant positive correlation (p < 0.001).

Percent Colonization, Distance, and Biomass

Out of the 209 seedlings planted, 190 survived, for an overall 91% survival rate. There was no correlation to distance class for bioassay survival, but there was some correlation to transect, with 8 bioassays dying for transects 1 and 2, 7 dying for transect 3, and 6 dying for transect 4 (Supplemental Table 1). Of the surviving non-control seedlings, the average percent of colonization by EM fungi was $45.5\pm22.2\%$. Percent colonization by EM fungi was significantly correlated with both the total biomass of the pine seedlings (F_{1,171} = 25.1, p <0.001) and distance from the plantation (F_{1,171} = 63.8, p <0.001; Fig. 4, 5, Table 2). As distance from the plantation increased, so did percent colonization (Figure 4) and biomass (Figure 5). However, the interaction of distance and biomass explained 33.1% of the percent colonization data (conditional $R^2 = 0.331$, Figure 4).

	SS	df	F	Р
Distance (m)	2.12	1	63.8	<0.001***
Biomass (g)	0.832	1	25.1	<0.001***
Residuals	5.671	171		

 Table 2: Summary results of ANOVA type III test between percent colonization of bioassays, total bioassay biomass, and distance from the plantation. Stars represent significance.



Figure 4: Percent colonization by ectomycorrhizal fungi in pine seedling bioassays roots grown soil collected from increasing distance from a pine plantation regressed against distance from that pine plantation. Each point represents an individual bioassay. Trend line shows a significant positive relationship with the shadowed area representing standard deviation.



Figure 5: Percent colonization by ectomycorrhizal fungi in pine seedling bioassays roots grown soil collected from increasing distance from a pine plantation regressed against total bioassay biomass. Each point represents an individual bioassay. Trend line shows a significant positive relationship with the shadowed area representing standard deviation.

When testing for a relationship between observed species richness and distance from the plantation, I found no significant relationship between the two (Supplemental Figure 2). The relationship between total seedling biomass and observed species richness was also not significant (Supplemental Figure 1). Despite the non-significant relationship between richness and distance, there appears to be a general negative trend in species number as distance from the plantation increases (Supplemental Figure 2).

Discussion

My results show that there is increased dissimilarity in EM fungal communities as distance between transect sampling points increases (Figure 5). This result is similar to other studies where community dissimilarity increases with geographic distance (Bahram et al., 2013; Goldmann et al., 2016; Hynson et al., 2013). When looking at the NMDS ordination (Figure 2) we can see that the bioassay communities that are present 2000 m away from the plantation are more similar to each other than those within the plantation and invasion front, suggesting that the invasion front is the most diverse and the 2000 m distance class is the least diverse.

The overall community composition in our site is unique, due to fact that the EM fungi species that are present are descendants of those who were able to survive being transported to Hawai'i. I was unable to find information about source of the initial pine seedlings for this plantation, but it possible that they came either from the US mainland, where *P. radiata* is native, or from stock of another foreign plantation, like in New Zealand where *P. radiata* is cultivated for timer, meaning that the source of EM fungi associated with these pines could be from various places, leading to a composition of EM fungi found nowhere else. Our reads of *Suillus* were placed within a super tree for the genus and found that our species are closely related to those in the mainland US and Asia, suggesting that these communities may be different than any found elsewhere.

As expected, suilloid species of EM fungi were the dominant species present at the furthest distance classes (500 - 2000 m). Specifically, *S. brevipes* with 63% and 92% of all the OTU sequences at the 1000m and 2000 m distance class respectively, and *S. pungens* with 53% of the OTU sequences at the 500 m distance class (Table 1). While these species were present around the plantation, they only occurred at very low abundances (Figure 1). Many studies have shown that suilloid fungi are found associating with invasive pines, especially when they are

young (Hynson et al., 2013; Policelli et al., 2019; Urcelay et al., 2017). In fact, it has been shown that just one species of *Suillus*, *S. luteus*, was enough to facilitate an invasion of pines in Chile (Hayward, Horton, Pauchard, et al., 2015). Although we found two *Rhizopogon* species in this study site, they were not detected passed the 100 m distance class and maintained less than 1% relative abundance (Table 1). *Rhizopogon* species are dispersed via mammals, and the potential dispersers at the Kula Forest Reserve are the non-native axis deer, goats, and pigs (Ashkannejhad & Horton, 2006; Bruns et al., 2009; State of Hawai'i Department of Land and Natural Resources, 2017). Mammal dispersal may have led to patchiness in the dispersal of *Rhizopogon* spores outside of the plantation, which may have not been sampled by our study.

There are several traits of suilloid species that are thought to promote and support invasion with pines. These traits include long-distance dispersal via wind and mammals, rapid colonization, resistant spore banks, and long distance exploration type capable of exploiting soil nutrient patches meters from the host roots (Policelli et al., 2019). Suilloid species, specifically *Suillus*, are also known for their ability to produce mass quantities of spores, which increase the likelihood that some spores will be carried further away and are able to establish a robust spore bank in the soil (Peay et al., 2012). Previously, it has been shown that in a native *Pinus muricata* forest in California, *S. brevipes*, while being a colonizer of young forests, can also persist within more mature forests and *S. pungens* was found associating with the younger forests (Nguyen et al., 2012). Within our study, this was reverse, with *S. pungens* being found within the plantation and *S. brevipes* dominating at the further distance classes. Preliminary evidence suggests that *S. brevipes* spores may survive longer in the spore bank, which may be playing a role in the lower abundance of *S. pungens* further out in the landscape (Nguyen et al., 2012).

While the relative abundance of *Suillus* increased with distance, I found that percent colonization of individual *P. radiata* bioassay roots and total bioassay biomass increased as well (Figure 4, Figure 5). Increasing percent colonization was contrary to my original hypothesis, which stated that there would likely be a decrease in colonization of bioassay roots with increasing distance from the plantation, due to low inoculum potential (Nuñez et al., 2009; Peay et al., 2012). Percent colonization of the bioassays was likely driven by community composition at the different distance classes. In this study *Suillus* species are present at the distance classes closer to the plantation but did not dominate until at least 500 m from the invasion front and became the most prevalent genus by a vast margin at the 1000 m and 2000 m distance classes.

The bioassays that were grown in soil from the 2000 m distance class, where *S. brevipes* and *S. pungens* were more abundant, may have been colonized quicker and more robustly than the bioassays that were grown in soil from the distance classes closer to the planation, due to the combination of less competition between EM fungi for root tips and the ability of *Suillus* to colonize quickly. Competition between EM fungi species may have prevented more colonization within the plantation and invasion front, despite the plentiful number of species present. The bioassays with more biomass from these further distance classes are likely to be colonized, at least in part, by *Suillus* species, which has been shown to be a high-quality partner and rapid colonizer (Moeller & Peay, 2016; Policelli et al., 2019). *Suillus*'s ability to disperse outwards and its propensity for rapid colonization has led to robust colonization in pine seedlings and increased biomass, which is furthering enabling *P. radiata*'s escape outward into the landscape.

Another group of fungi found in this study were all our crust forming fungi. It is not surprising that Thelephora. c.f, terrestris was found in at the Kula Forest Reserve, as it is common in forest nursey soils and has been found associating with invasive pines in Argentina, New Zealand, as well as Hawai'i (Hayward, Horton, & Nuñez, 2015; Hynson et al., 2013; Smith & Read, 2008; Urcelay et al., 2017). Studies have found that *T. terrestris* is a relatively strong competitor among EM fungal species, particularly S. pungens, but T. terrestris does not produce as many spores nor does disperse as far as S. pungens, possibly explaining its prevalence within the middle distance classes (Table 1) (Moeller & Peay, 2016; Peay et al., 2012). Another Agaricomycete in this study was Tomentella c.f. lateritia, which was only found within the plantation. There isn't very much functionally known about Tomentella species but they may be dispersed by arthropods, which could explain the limited spread in our study (Lilleskov & Bruns, 2005; Smith & Read, 2008). Tomtenella species are also widespread and seems to be significantly associated with forests, so further research is needed to understand how they may be aiding pines and their invasion (Binder et al., 2013; Jakucs & Erős-Honti, 2008). The other prevalent Agaricomycete genus in this study is *Tylospora*, which despite maintaining a relatively low abundance of less than 9% at any distance class, had species ranging from the plantation out to the 2000 m distance class (Table 1). This genus has been found associating with alien Pinaceae within native Pinaceae ranges and may be able to access otherwise inaccessible organically bound nutrients and further research may be needed to see if Tylospora species are more key players in pine invasions (Erland & Taylor, 1999; Vlk et al., 2020).

The two genera belonging to the Pezizales, Trichophaea and Wilcoxina, were found within and near the plantation and invasion front distance classes. Within the plantation, Trichophaea sp. 1 and Wilcoxina sp. 1 dominated, making up 42% and 41% of the OTU reads, respectively (Table 1). Not much is known about the ecology of *Trichophaea*, although at least one species may be heat resistant, which could mean that burning the landscape in order to eliminate *P. radiata* and any EM fungal inoculum might not be effective (Simonovičová et al., 2014). However, Trichophaea's relative, Wilcoxina, is more well known. Wilcoxina is widespread colonizer of pine nursery seedlings with the ability to survive in spore banks for at least six years and has even been shown to colonize seedlings after a stand replacing wildfire (Baar et al., 1999; Barroetaveña et al., 2007; Leski et al., 2010; Nguyen et al., 2012). These characteristics lead to *Wilcoxina* being found in relatively young stands of pines and often considered an early successional colonizer (D. L. Taylor & Bruns, 1999). Although this genus is a quick and robust EM fungal colonizer of pines, it often colonizes vegetatively producing chlamydospores belowground, limiting dispersal distance (Glassman et al., 2015; Yu et al., 2001). This may be why Wilcoxina spp. are only seen up to the 100 m distance class and not beyond. Lastly, these species were previously only known to be present and colonizing pines in the Holarctic realm, but this study is evidence that they have reached beyond and into the soils of Maui (Tedersoo et al., 2010).

I expected the plantation to have the most species and for species number to decrease with distance, as the plantation is reasonably the source for the EM species in this system as there are no known native pine-associating EM fungi in Hawai'i (Hayward & Hynson, 2014). Although there was no statistical significance between observed richness and distance, the richness of species peaked at the invasion front (15 species, Supplemental Table 7) and was lowest 2000 m away (6 species, Supplemental Table 7). This may in part due to the change in root density between the plantation and invasion front distance classes. Previous work researching EM fungi communities and root density found that areas of higher root density had a higher prevalence of short-distance exploration type EM fungal species, whereas on the edges of forests where root density was lower, longer-distance exploration type EM fungi were more prevalent (Peay et al., 2011). The two most abundant species within the plantation, *Trichophaea* and *Wilcoxina*, are known to be strong hyphal colonizers, which may have given them an edge in the plantation due to the closer proximity of roots to outcompete some of the other species who

rely more on spore colonization and longer distance exploration types (Yu et al., 2001). In our study, the invasion front distance class pines were much further apart than within the plantation, which may have allowed for more opportunities for longer distance exploration type or weaker competitor EM fungal species, such as *Suillus pungens*, which increased from 1% relative abundance within the plantation distance class to 30% relative abundance in the invasion front distance class (Table 1) . The species present in the invasion front classes are also likely present within the plantation distance class, but at such low abundances that they were not detected by this study's sampling methods. For example, *Sistotrema* sp. 1 likely occurred elsewhere within the Kula Forest Reserve but was only detected at a very low abundance at one sampling point (Supplemental Table 5).

The percent colonization trend line showed no signs of reaching a plateau at the 2000 m distance class, which was opposite of what I expected (Figure 4). This could indicate that there is still high colonization potential beyond 2000 m from the plantation, and higher up Haleakalā, despite few to no currently established pine trees. Saplings of three pine species, including *P. radiata*, have been found near the crater of Haleakalā, and National Park Service is already working to remove them (Strohecker, 2016). As more and more pines encroach towards the crater of Haleakalā, the endemic species found there, and in the Kula Forest Reserve, continue to be threatened. Our study helps to show that there is inoculum potential, particularly by *Suillus*, at least 2000 m from the *P. radiata* plantation at the Kula Forest reserve, and likely beyond. If a seed lands in the soil at these distances and other abiotic and biotic conditions are favorable for germination, it is likely to be colonized. Currently, there are no known feasible ways to decrease or remove EM fungal spores or mycelium from the soil, limiting the management options available to control the spread of *P. radiata* via management of the EM fungal symbiont.

The possibility that the invading pines may not encounter their required EM fungal symbionts as they get further away from the plantation appears to not be the case, which ultimately impacts management decisions. The limiting factor of this invasion is likely *P. radiata* seed dispersal and not symbiont availability, meaning that more active management of the pines is necessary. Further study into pine dispersal on this landscape is underway, but unless managers can prevent seeds from reaching further and further away from the plantation, this invasion will likely progress upwards towards Haleakalā and encroach on the unique ecosystem found there.

Overall, our study found that the community of EM fungi occurring at increasing distances from the Kula Forest Reserve plantation are very different than within and around the plantation, and the most abundant species found at those far distances were S. brevipes and S. pungens. Suillus, and other suilloid species, have been shown to enable pine invasions globally and are likely the main drivers of the P. radiata invasion at the Kula Forest Reserve (Policelli et al., 2019). The long-distance exploration type, plentiful spore production, increased spore longevity and dispersal distance, and increased nutrient acquisition ability of Suillus species are likely why we detect them associating with the seedlings growing the furthest away, and why these seedlings are able to survive and thrive (Agerer, 2001; Moeller & Peay, 2016; Nguyen et al., 2012; Policelli et al., 2019). This study also saw an increase in percent colonization and biomass of P. radiata bioassays with increasing distance from the plantation, suggesting that these pines can continue invading out into the environment and up towards the Haleakalā crater. If managers aim to limit the spread of *P. radiata*, active management strategies, such as removal of pine individuals who have already invaded beyond the plantation and the removal of the pine plantation in order to reestablish native forest plants, need to be taken against the pines, due to the availability of ideal symbionts in this landscape.

Appendices

Transect	Distance Class	Number Survived	Number Died
1	Plantation	8	1
1	Invasion Front	7	1
1	100 m	7	1
1	500 m	6	2
1	1000 m	7	1
1	2000 m	6	2
2	Plantation	7	1
2	Invasion Front	8	0
2	100 m	8	0
2	500 m	7	1
2	1000 m	8	0
2	2000 m	8	0
3	Plantation	7	1
3	Invasion Front	7	1
3	100 m	8	0
3	500 m	8	0
3	1000 m	7	1
3	2000 m	7	1
4	Plantation	7	1
4	Invasion Front	8	0
4	100 m	8	0
4	500 m	8	0
4	1000 m	7	1
4	2000 m	8	0
	Control	13	3

Supplemental Table 1: The total number of P. radiata bioassays that survived and died per transect and distance class over the course of this study.

EM Fungal Species	Extraction Negative Highest Value
Suillus brevipes	28
Suillus pungens	136
<i>Trichophaea</i> sp. 1	61
Wilcoxina sp. 3	89
Thelephora cf. terrestris	2
Tylospora sp. 1	14
Tylospora sp. 2	4
Suillus pseudobrevipes	139

Supplemental Table 2: The highest number of OTU reads for each EM fungal OTU found in the extraction negative controls. These amounts were then subtracted from each sample for each EM fungal OUT to control for contamination.

EM Fungal Species	Control_104570	Control_104589	Control_104738	Control_104858
<i>Tylospora</i> sp. 2	0	0	0	2
Thelephora cf. terrestris	5	9	0	0
<i>Trichophaea</i> sp. 1	48	0	0	0
Rhizopogon cf. mohelnensis	0	0	2	2

Supplemental Table 3: The total number of EM fungi OTU reads found within the P. radiata bioassay negative controls.

OTU Sequencing ID	Species	OTU Sequencing ID						
		OTU97_450	OTU97_574	OTU97_7	OTU97_10	OTU97_82		
OTU97_450	Tylospora sp. 5	100	93.87	96.93	94.48	95.09		
OTU97_574	Tylospora sp. 6	93.87	100	96.95	95.73	96.39		
OTU97_7	Tylospora sp. 1	96.93	96.95	100	97.56	98.17		
OTU97_10	Tylospora sp. 2	94.48	95.73	97.56	100	99.4		
OTU97_82	Tylospora sp. 2	95.09	96.39	98.17	99.4	100		

Supplemental Table 4: The likelihood that any two of these OTUs are the same. OTUs highlighted in yellow were merged due to high likelihood of same identity.



Supplemental Figure 1: Average species richness of ectomycorrhizal fungi in pine seedling bioassays roots grown soil collected from increasing distance from a pine plantation regressed against average biomass. Each point represents averages pooled by distance. Trend line shows no significant relationship with the gray shadow representing standard deviation.



Supplemental Figure 2: Average species richness of ectomycorrhizal fungi in pine seedling bioassays roots grown soil collected from increasing distance from a pine plantation regressed against distance from the plantation. Each point represents averages pooled by distance. Trend line shows no significant relationship with the gray shadow representing standard deviation.

Transect	Distance	Rhizopogon cf. mohelnensis	Rhizopogon cf. salebrosus	Sistotrema sp.	Suillus brevipes	Suillus luteus	Suillus pungens	Thelephora cf. terrestris	<i>Tomentella</i> cf. lateritia	Trichophaea sp. 1	Trichophaea sp. 2
1	Plantation	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.3599	0	0.6393	0
2	Plantation	0.0002	0	0	0	0	0.0528	0	3.88E-05	0.9470	0
3	Plantation	0.0007	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.4905	0.4996	0
4	Plantation	0.0008	0	0	0	0	0	0.0023	0	0.0004	0
1	Invasion Front	0.0001	0	0	0	0	0	1.12E-05	0	0.7109	0
2	Invasion Front	0.0130	0	0	0	0	0.7199	5.88E-06	0	0.2671	0
3	Invasion Front	0	0	0	0.2112	0	0	0.4533	0	0.0253	0.0964
4	Invasion Front	0	0	0	0	0	0.3474	0.1251	0	0.5275	0
1	100 m	0	8.15E-05	0	0	0	0.2583	8.15E-05	0	0.5532	0
2	100 m	0	7.57E-05	0	0.0010	0	0	0	0	0.9990	0
3	100 m	0	0	0	0	0	0.4641	0	0	0.5359	0
4	100 m	0	0	0	0.3055	0	0.6420	0.0522	0	0	0
1	500 m	0	0	0	0.2822	0	0.6085	0.1093	0	0	0
2	500 m	0	0	0	0.2502	0.0947	0.0571	0.4615	0	0.1107	0
3	500 m	0	0	0	0.1190	0	0.8810	0	0	0	0
4	500 m	0	0	0	0.4048	0	0.5952	0	0	0	0
1	1000 m	0	0	0	0.3777	0	0.6223	0	0	0	0
2	1000 m	0	0	0	0.9999	0	0	1.32E-05	0	0	0
3	1000 m	0	0	0	0.2129	0	0.3635	7.77E-05	0	0	0
4	1000 m	0	0	8.97E-05	0.6803	0	0.0748	0.0317	0	0.1127	0
1	2000 m	0	0	0	0.9817	0	0.0183	0	0	0	0
2	2000 m	0	0	0	0.5812	0	0.4188	3.90E-05	0	0	0
3	2000 m	0	0	0	0.9951	0	0.0012	0	0	0	0
4	2000 m	0	0	0	0.9965	0	0.0021	0.0002	0	0	0

Supplemental Table 5: Average relative abundance of each ectomycorrhizal fungal sequences observed in this study. Averages are pooled by transect and distance class.

Transect	Distance	Trichophaea sp. 3	Trichophaea sp. 4	Trichophaea sp. 5	<i>Tylospora</i> sp. 1	<i>Tylospora</i> sp. 2	Tylospora sp. 3	<i>Tylospora</i> sp. 4	<i>Tylospora</i> sp. 5	Wilcoxina sp. 1	Wilcoxina sp. 2
1	Plantation	0	0	0	0.0007	0	0	0	0	0	0
2	Plantation	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
3	Plantation	0	0	0	0.0092	0	0	0	0	0	0
4	Plantation	8.82E-05	4.07E-05	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.9963	0.0001
1	Invasion Front	0	0	0	0.2227	0.0634	0.0026	0	0.0002	0	0
2	Invasion Front	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
3	Invasion Front	0.0003	0.0003	0.0001	0	0	0	0	0	0.2118	0.0012
4	Invasion Front	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
1	100 m	0	0	0	0	4.08E-05	0	0	0	0.1882	0
2	100 m	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
3	100 m	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
4	100 m	0	0	0	0.0002	8.39E-05	0	0	0	0	0
1	500 m	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
2	500 m	0	0	0	0.0031	0.0227	4.42E-05	0	0	0	0
3	500 m	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
4	500 m	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
1	1000 m	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
2	1000 m	0	0	0	0	5.30E-05	0	0	0	0	0
3	1000 m	0	0	0	0.1734	0.2452	0.0040	0.0009	0	0	0
4	1000 m	0	0	0	0.0002	0.0994	0.0004	0.0003	0	0	0
1	2000 m	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
2	2000 m	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
3	2000 m	0	0	0	0.0007	0.003	4.18E-05	0	0	0	0
4	2000 m	0	0	0	8.96E-06	0.0011	4.18E-05	0	0	0	0

Supplemental Table 5 (Continued): Average relative abundance of each ectomycorrhizal fungal sequences observed in this study. Averages are pooled by transect and distance

class.

Major Groups	OTUs	Percentage of OTUs
Unknown	428	0.391225
Undefined Saprotroph	321	0.293419
Plant Pathogen	165	0.150823
Endophyte	129	0.117916
Animal Pathogen	114	0.104205
Wood Saprotroph	113	0.103291
Dung Saprotroph	64	0.058501
Soil Saprotroph	59	0.053931
Ectomycorrhizal	57	0.052102
Fungal Parasite	52	0.047532
Lichen Parasite	47	0.042962
Arbuscular Mycorrhizal	46	0.042048
Plant Saprotroph	27	0.02468
Litter Saprotroph	22	0.02011
Orchid Mycorrhizal	18	0.016453
Leaf Saprotroph	12	0.010969
Epiphyte	11	0.010055
Lichenized	11	0.010055
Ericoid Mycorrhizal	4	0.003656
Animal Parasite	3	0.002742
Bryophyte Parasite	2	0.001828
Undefined Biotroph	2	0.001828
Animal Endosymbiont	1	0.000914
Clavicipitaceous Endophyte	1	0.000914
Root Associated Biotroph	1	0.000914

Supplemental Table 6: Number of OTUs in this study categorized by FUNGuild into each guild category. The right column shows what percentage of OTUs fit into that guild.

Distance Class	Richness		
Plantation	10		
Invasion Front	15		
100 m	8		
500 m	8		
1000 m	9		
2000 m	6		

Supplemental Table 7: Species richness of each distance class in this study.

	SS	df	F	R ²	Р
Distance (m)	11.93	5	6.980	0.1951	< 0.001***
Residuals	49.21	144		0.8049	

Supplemental Table 8: Summary results of PERMANOVA test between community dissimilarity and distance from the plantation. Stars represent significance.

Bibliography

- Agerer, R. (2001). Exploration types of ectomycorrhizae: A proposal to classify ectomycorrhizal mycelial systems according to their patterns of differentiation and putative ecological importance. *Mycorrhiza*, *11*(2), 107–114. https://doi.org/10.1007/s005720100108
- Arisdakessian, C., Cleveland, S. B., & Belcaid, M. (2020). MetaFlow|mics: Scalable and Reproducible Nextflow Pipelines for the Analysis of Microbiome Marker Data. ACM International Conference Proceeding Series, 120–124. https://doi.org/10.1145/3311790.3396664
- Ashkannejhad, S., & Horton, T. R. (2006). Ectomycorrhizal ecology under primary succession on coastal sand dunes: Interactions involving Pinus contorta, suilloid fungi and deer. *New Phytologist*, 169(2), 345–354. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2005.01593.x
- Baar, J., Horton, T. R., Kretzer, A., & Bruns, T. D. (1999). From Resistant Propagules After a Stand- Replacing Wildfire. *New Phytologist*, 143, 409–418.
- Bahram, M., Kõljalg, U., Courty, P. E., Diédhiou, A. G., Kjøller, R., Põlme, S., Ryberg, M., Veldre, V., & Tedersoo, L. (2013). The distance decay of similarity in communities of ectomycorrhizal fungi in different ecosystems and scales. *Journal of Ecology*, 101(5), 1335–1344. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2745.12120
- Barroetaveña, C., Cázares, E., & Rajchenberg, M. (2007). Ectomycorrhizal fungi associated with ponderosa pine and Douglas-fir: A comparison of species richness in native western North American forests and Patagonian plantations from Argentina. *Mycorrhiza*, 17(5), 355–373. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00572-007-0121-x
- Binder, A., Peršoh, D., Yorou, N. S., Verma, R., Bässler, C., & Agerer, R. (2013). Ectomycorrhizae of Tomentella badia: description and molecular identification. *Acta Mycologica*, 48(2), 155–171. https://doi.org/10.5586/am.2013.018
- Blackburn, T. M., Pyšek, P., Bacher, S., Carlton, J. T., Duncan, R. P., Jarošík, V., Wilson, J. R. U., & Richardson, D. M. (2011). A proposed unified framework for biological invasions. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, *26*(7), 333–339. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2011.03.023
- Bogar, L. M., & Peay, K. G. (2017). Processes Maintaining the Coexistence of Ectomycorrhizal Fungi at a Fine Spatial Scale. In L. Tedersoo (Ed.), *Biogeography of Mycorrhizal Symbiosis* (pp. 79–105). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-56363-

- Brewer, J. S., Souza, F. M., Callaway, R. M., & Durigan, G. (2018). Impact of invasive slash pine (Pinus elliottii) on groundcover vegetation at home and abroad. *Biological Invasions*, 20(10), 2807–2820. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10530-018-1734-z
- Brundrett, M. C., & Tedersoo, L. (2018). Evolutionary history of mycorrhizal symbioses and global host plant diversity. In *New Phytologist* (Vol. 220, Issue 4, pp. 1108–1115).
 Blackwell Publishing Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.14976
- Bruns, T. D., Bidartondo, M. I., & Lee Taylor, D. (2002). Host Specificity in Ectomycorrhizal Communities: What Do the Exceptions Tell Us? In *Comparative Biology* (Vol. 42, Issue 2).
- Bruns, T. D., Peay, K. G., Boynton, P. J., Grubisha, L. C., Hynson, N. A., Nguyen, N. H., & Rosenstock, N. P. (2009). Inoculum potential of Rhizopogon spores increases with time over the first 4 yr of a 99-yr spore burial experiment. *New Phytologist*, 181(2), 463–470. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2008.02652.x
- Bruns, T. D., Szaro, T. M., Gardes, M., Cullings, K. W., Pan, J. J., Taylor, D. L., Horton, T. R., Kretzer, A., Garbelotto, M., & Li, Y. (1998). A sequence database for the identification of ectomycorrhizal basidiomycetes by phylogenetic analysis. *Molecular Ecology*, 7(3), 257– 272. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-294x.1998.00337.x

- Callahan, B. J., McMurdie, P. J., Rosen, M. J., Han, A. W., Johnson, A. J. A., & Holmes, S. P. (2016). DADA2: High-resolution sample inference from Illumina amplicon data. *Nature Methods*, 13(7), 581–583. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.3869
- Cope, A. B. (1993). Pinus radiata. In: Fire Effects Information System, [Online]. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station, Fire Sciences Laboratory. https://www.fs.fed.us/database/feis/plants/tree/pinrad/all.html
- Dahlberg, A., & Finlay, R. D. (1999). Suillus. In *Ectomycorrhizal Fungi Key Genera in Profile* (Issue 1999, pp. 33–64).
- Dickie, I. A. (2007). Host preference, niches and fungal diversity. *New Phytologist*, *174*(2), 230–233.
- Dickie, I. A., Bolstridge, N., Cooper, J. A., & Peltzer, D. A. (2010). Co-invasion by Pinus and its mycorrhizal fungi. *New Phytologist*, 187(2), 475–484. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2010.03277.x

Bubriski, R. (2012). Scoring Percent Colonization.

- Dickie, I. A., Bufford, J. L., Cobb, R. C., Desprez-Loustau, M. L., Grelet, G., Hulme, P. E.,
 Klironomos, J., Makiola, A., Nuñez, M. A., Pringle, A., Thrall, P. H., Tourtellot, S. G.,
 Waller, L., & Williams, N. M. (2017). The emerging science of linked plant–fungal
 invasions. *New Phytologist*, 215(4), 1314–1332. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.14657
- Edgar, R. C. (2004). MUSCLE: Multiple sequence alignment with high accuracy and high throughput. *Nucleic Acids Research*, *32*(5), 1792–1797. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkh340
- Erland, S., & Taylor, A. F. S. (1999). Resupinate Ectomycorrhizal Fungal Genera. In *Ectomycorrhizal Fungi Key Genera in Profile* (pp. 347–363). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-06827-4_15
- Foxcroft, L. C., Spear, D., van Wilgen, N. J., & McGeoch, M. A. (2019). Assessing the association between pathways of alien plant invaders and their impacts in protected areas. *NeoBiota*, 43, 1–25. https://doi.org/10.3897/NEOBIOTA.43.29644
- Franzese, J., Urrutia, J., García, R. A., Taylor, K., & Pauchard, A. (2017). Pine invasion impacts on plant diversity in Patagonia: invader size and invaded habitat matter. *Biological Invasions*, 19(3), 1015–1027. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10530-016-1344-6
- Frøslev, T. G., Kjøller, R., Bruun, H. H., Ejrnæs, R., Brunbjerg, A. K., Pietroni, C., & Hansen, A. J. (2017). Algorithm for post-clustering curation of DNA amplicon data yields reliable biodiversity estimates. *Nature Communications*, 8(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-017-01312-x
- Galante, T. E., Horton, T. R., & Swaney, D. P. (2011). 95% of basidiospores fall within 1 m of the cap: a field-and modeling-based study. *Mycologia*, 103(6), 1175–1183. https://doi.org/10.3852/10-388
- Gazol, A., Zobel, M., Cantero, J. J., Davison, J., Esler, K. J., Jairus, T., Öpik, M., Vasar, M., & Moora, M. (2016). Impact of alien pines on local arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal communities-evidence from two continents. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, 92(6), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1093/femsec/fiw073
- Glassman, S. I., Peay, K. G., Talbot, J. M., Smith, D. P., Chung, J. A., Taylor, J. W., Vilgalys, R., & Bruns, T. D. (2015). A continental view of pine-associated ectomycorrhizal fungal spore banks: A quiescent functional guild with a strong biogeographic pattern. *New Phytologist*, 205(4), 1619–1631. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.13240

Goldmann, K., Schröter, K., Pena, R., Schöning, I., Schrumpf, M., Buscot, F., Polle, A., &

Wubet, T. (2016). Divergent habitat filtering of root and soil fungal communities in temperate beech forests. *Scientific Reports*, 6(August), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep31439

Hannon, G. J. (2010). FASTX-Toolkit.

- Hayward, J., Horton, T. R., & Nuñez, M. A. (2015). Ectomycorrhizal fungal communities coinvading with Pinaceae host plants in Argentina: Gringos bajo el bosque. *New Phytologist*, 208(2), 497–506. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.13453
- Hayward, J., Horton, T. R., Pauchard, A. A., & Nunez, M. A. (2015). A single ectomycorrhizal fungal species can enable a Pinus invasion. *Ecology*, 96(5), 1438–1444. https://doi.org/10.1890/14-1100.1
- Hayward, J., & Hynson, N. A. (2014). New evidence of ectomycorrhizal fungi in the Hawaiian Islands associated with the endemic host Pisonia sandwicensis (Nyctaginaceae). *Fungal Ecology*, 12, 62–69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.funeco.2014.09.001
- Horton, T. R. (2017). Spore Dispersal in Ectomycorrhizal Fungi at Fine and Regional Scales. InL. Tedersoo (Ed.), *Biogeography of Mycorrhizal Symbiosis* (pp. 61–78). Springer.
- Hynson, N. A., Merckx, V. S. F. T., Perry, B. A., & Treseder, K. K. (2013). Identities and distributions of the co-invading ectomycorrhizal fungal symbionts of exotic pines in the Hawaiian Islands. *Biological Invasions*, 15(11), 2373–2385. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10530-013-0458-3
- Imada, C. T. (2019). Hawaiian Naturalized Vascular Plants Checklist.
- IUCN. (2021). The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. https://www.iucnredlist.org
- Jakucs, E., & Erős-Honti, Z. (2008). Morphological-anatomical characterization and identification of Tomentella ectomycorrhizas. *Mycorrhiza*, 18(6–7), 277–285. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00572-008-0183-4
- Keeley, J. E. (2012). Ecology and evolution of pine life histories. In *Annals of Forest Science* (Vol. 69, Issue 4, pp. 445–453). https://doi.org/10.1007/s13595-012-0201-8

Kolde, R. (2015). pheatmap: Pretty heatmaps [Software].

Larson, D. L., Phillips-Mao, L., Quiram, G., Sharpe, L., Stark, R., Sugita, S., & Weiler, A. (2011). A framework for sustainable invasive species management: Environmental, social, and economic objectives. In *Journal of Environmental Management* (Vol. 92, Issue 1, pp. 14–22). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2010.08.025

- Lawrimore, J. H., Ray, R., Applequist, S., Korzeniewski, B., & Menne, M. J. (2016). *Global* Summary of the Year (GSOY), Version 1. Kula Branch Station.
- Leski, T., Aučina, A., Skridaila, A., Pietras, M., Riepšas, E., & Rudawska, M. (2010).
 Ectomycorrhizal community structure of different genotypes of Scots pine under forest nursery conditions. *Mycorrhiza*, 20(7), 473–481. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00572-010-0298-2
- Lilleskov, E. A., & Bruns, T. D. (2005). Spore dispersal of a resupinate ectomycorrhizal fungus, Tomentella sublilacina, via soil food webs. *Mycologia*, 97(4), 762–769. https://doi.org/10.3852/mycologia.97.4.762
- Linhart, Y. B. (1978). Maintenance of Variation in Cone Morphology in California Closed-Cone Pines: The Roles of Fire, Squirrels and Seed Output. *The Southwestern Naturalist*, 23(1), 29. https://doi.org/10.2307/3669977
- Little, E., & Skolmen, R. (1989). Common Forest Trees of Hawaii. https://www.ctahr.hawaii.edu/gsp/doc/Forestry/Little_Skolmen_CFT/CFT_Pinus_radiata.pd f
- Loope, L., Nagata, R., & Medeiros, A. (1992). Alien Plants in Haleakala National Park.
- Mallinson, J. (2018). Personal Communication.
- McMurdie, P. J., & Holmes, S. (2013). *phyloseq: An R package for reproducible interactive analysis and graphics of microbiome census data* (8(4)). PLoS ONE.
- Millar, C. I. (1999). EVOLUTION AND BIOGEOGRAPHY OF PINUS RADIATA, WITH A PROPOSED REVISION OF ITS QUATERNARY HISTORY. In *New Zealand Journal of Forestry Science* (Vol. 29, Issue 3).
- Moeller, H. V., & Peay, K. G. (2016). Competition-function tradeoffs in ectomycorrhizal fungi. *PeerJ*, 2016(7). https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.2270
- Nguyen, N. H. (2021). Personal Communication.
- Nguyen, N. H., Hynson, N. A., & Bruns, T. D. (2012). Stayin' alive: Survival of mycorrhizal fungal propagules from 6-yr-old forest soil. *Fungal Ecology*, 5(6), 741–746. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.funeco.2012.05.006
- Nguyen, N. H., Smith, D., Peay, K., & Kennedy, P. (2015). Parsing ecological signal from noise in next generation amplicon sequencing. In *New Phytologist* (Vol. 205, Issue 4, pp. 1389–1393). Blackwell Publishing Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.12923

- Nguyen, N. H., Song, Z., Bates, S. T., Branco, S., Tedersoo, L., Menke, J., Schilling, J. S., & Kennedy, P. G. (2016). FUNGuild: An open annotation tool for parsing fungal community datasets by ecological guild. *Fungal Ecology*, 20, 241–248. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.funeco.2015.06.006
- Nilsson, R. H., Larsson, K. H., Taylor, A. F. S., Bengtsson-Palme, J., Jeppesen, T. S., Schigel, D., Kennedy, P., Picard, K., Glöckner, F. O., Tedersoo, L., Saar, I., Kõljalg, U., & Abarenkov, K. (2019). The UNITE database for molecular identification of fungi: Handling dark taxa and parallel taxonomic classifications. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 47(D1), D259–D264. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gky1022
- Nuñez, M. A., Chiuffo, M. C., Torres, A., Paul, T., Dimarco, R. D., Raal, P., Policelli, N., Moyano, J., García, R. A., van Wilgen, B. W., Pauchard, A., & Richardson, D. M. (2017). Ecology and management of invasive Pinaceae around the world: progress and challenges. *Biological Invasions*, *19*(11), 3099–3120. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10530-017-1483-4
- Nuñez, M. A., & Dickie, I. A. (2014). Invasive belowground mutualists of woody plants. *Biological Invasions*, 16(3), 645–661. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10530-013-0612-y
- Nuñez, M. A., Hayward, J., Horton, T. R., Amico, G. C., Dimarco, R. D., Barrios-Garcia, M. N.,
 & Simberloff, D. (2013). Exotic Mammals Disperse Exotic Fungi That Promote Invasion by Exotic Trees. *PLoS ONE*, 8(6), 66832. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0066832
- Nuñez, M. A., Horton, T. R., & Simberloff, D. (2009). Lack of belowground mutualisms hinders Pinaceae invasions. *Ecology*, 90(9), 2352–2359. https://doi.org/10.1890/08-2139.1
- Oksanen, J., Blanchet, F. G., Friendly, M., Kindt, R., Legendre, P., McGlinn, D., Minchin, P. R., O'Hara, R. B., Simpson, G. L., Solymos, P., Stevens, M. H. H., Szoecs, E., & Wagner, H. (2019). vegan: Community Ecology Package (2.5-6).
- Peay, K. G., Kennedy, P. G., & Bruns, T. D. (2011). Rethinking ectomycorrhizal succession: Are root density and hyphal exploration types drivers of spatial and temporal zonation? *Fungal Ecology*, 4(3), 233–240. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.funeco.2010.09.010
- Peay, K. G., Schubert, M. G., Nguyen, N. H., & Bruns, T. D. (2012). Measuring ectomycorrhizal fungal dispersal: Macroecological patterns driven by microscopic propagules. *Molecular Ecology*, 21(16), 4122–4136. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2012.05666.x
- Pejchar, L., & Mooney, H. A. (2009). Invasive species, ecosystem services and human wellbeing. In *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* (Vol. 24, Issue 9, pp. 497–504).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2009.03.016

- Pimentel, D. (2011). Environmental and economic costs associated with alien invasive species in the United States. In *Biological Invasions : Economic and Environmental Costs of Alien Plant, Animal, and Microbe Species* (Second, pp. 411–430). Taylor & Francis Group.
- Policelli, N., Bruns, T. D., Vilgalys, R., & Nuñez, M. A. (2019). Suilloid fungi as global drivers of pine invasions. *New Phytologist*, 222(2), 714–725. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.15660
- Price, J. P., & Wagner, W. L. (2018). Origins of the Hawaiian flora: Phylogenies and biogeography reveal patterns of long-distance dispersal. *Journal of Systematics and Evolution*, 56(6), 600–620. https://doi.org/10.1111/jse.12465
- Pringle, A., Bever, J. D., Gardes, M., Parrent, J. L., Rillig, M. C., & Klironomos, J. N. (2009). Mycorrhizal Symbioses and Plant Invasions. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics*, 40(1), 699–715. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.39.110707.173454
- Pyšek, P., Jarošík, V., Hulme, P. E., Pergl, J., Hejda, M., Schaffner, U., & Vilà, M. (2012). A global assessment of invasive plant impacts on resident species, communities and ecosystems: The interaction of impact measures, invading species' traits and environment. *Global Change Biology*, 18(5), 1725–1737. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2011.02636.x
- Pyšek, P., & Richardson, D. M. (2010). Invasive species, environmental change and management, and health. *Annual Review of Environment and Resources*, 35(1), 25–55. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-environ-033009-095548
- Rasmussen, A. L., Busby, R. R., & Hoeksema, J. D. (2017). Host preference of ectomycorrhizal fungi in mixed pine–oak woodlands. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 48(2), 153–159. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfr-2017-0227
- Richardson, D. M. (1998). Forestry trees as invasive aliens. *Conservation Biology*, *12*(1), 18–26. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1739.1998.96392.x
- Richardson, D. M., & Rejmánek, M. (2004). Conifers as invasive aliens: A global survey and predictive framework. In *Diversity and Distributions* (Vol. 10, Issues 5–6, pp. 321–331).
 Wiley/Blackwell (10.1111). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1366-9516.2004.00096.x
- Richardson, D. M., Williams, P. A., & Hobbs, R. J. (1994). Pine Invasions in the Southern Hemisphere: Determinants of Spread and Invadability. *Journal of Biogeography*, 21(5), 511. https://doi.org/10.2307/2845655

- Rivers, A. R., Weber, K. C., Gardner, T. G., Liu, S., & Armstrong, S. D. (2018). ITSxpress: Software to rapidly trim internally transcribed spacer sequences with quality scores for marker gene analysis [version 1; peer review: 2 approved]. *F1000Research*, 7(May). https://doi.org/10.12688/F1000RESEARCH.15704.1
- Rognes, T., Flouri, T., Nichols, B., Quince, C., & Mahé, F. (2016). VSEARCH: a versatile open source tool for metagenomics. *PeerJ*, *4*, e2584. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.2584
- Santolamazza-Carbone, S., Durán-Otero, M., & Calviño-Cancela, M. (2019). Context dependency, co-introductions, novel mutualisms, and host shifts shaped the ectomycorrhizal fungal communities of the alien tree Eucalyptus globulus. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-42550-x
- Simberloff, D., Nuñez, M. A., Ledgard, N. J., Pauchard, A., Richardson, D. M., Sarasola, M., Van Wilgen, B. W., Zalba, S. M., Zenni, R. D., Bustamante, R., Peña, E., & Ziller, S. R. (2010). Spread and impact of introduced conifers in South America: Lessons from other southern hemisphere regions. *Austral Ecology*, *35*(5), 489–504. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1442-9993.2009.02058.x
- Šimonovičová, A., Nováková, A., Pangallo, D., Hnátová, V., & Hubka, V. (2014). The occurrence of heat-resistant species of Trichophaea abundans in different types of soil in Slovakia and Czech Republic. *Biologia (Poland)*, 69(2), 168–172. https://doi.org/10.2478/s11756-013-0300-5
- Smith, S. E., & Read, D. . (2008). Mycorrhizal Symbiosis. In Academic Press (3rd ed.). Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1097/00010694-198403000-00011
- State of Hawai'i Department of Land and Natural Resources. (2017). Kula Forest Reserve and Papa 'anui Tract of Kahikinui Forest Reserve.
- Strohecker, L. (2016). *Pines threaten Haleakalā*. Maui Invasive Species Committee. https://mauiinvasive.org/2016/11/16/pines-threaten-to-transform-haleakala/
- Taylor, D. L., & Bruns, T. D. (1999). Community structure of ectomycorrhizal fungi in a Pinus muricata forest: Minimal overlap between the mature forest and resistant propagule communities. *Molecular Ecology*, 8(11), 1837–1850. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-294X.1999.00773.x
- Taylor, D. Lee, Hollingsworth, T. N., McFarland, J. W., Lennon, N. J., Nusbaum, C., & Ruess,R. W. (2014). A first comprehensive census of fungi in soil reveals both hyperdiversity and

fine-scale niche partitioning. *Ecological Monographs*, 84(1), 3–20. https://doi.org/10.1890/12-1693.1

- Team, R. C. (2020). R: A language and environment for statistical computing (4.0.2). R Foundation for Statistical Computing. https://www.r-project.org/
- Tedersoo, L., May, T. W., Smith, M. E., Tedersoo, L., May, T. W., & Smith, M. E. (2010). *Ectomycorrhizal lifestyle in fungi: global diversity, distribution, and evolution of phylogenetic lineages.* https://doi.org/10.1007/s00572-009-0274-x
- Tedersoo, L., & Smith, M. E. (2013). Lineages of ectomycorrhizal fungi revisited: Foraging strategies and novel lineages revealed by sequences from belowground. In *Fungal Biology Reviews* (Vol. 27, Issues 3–4, pp. 83–99). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fbr.2013.09.001
- Theoharides, K. A., & Dukes, J. S. (2007). Plant invasion across space and time: Factors affecting nonindigenous species success during four stages of invasion. *New Phytologist*, 176(2), 256–273. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2007.02207.x
- Urcelay, C., Longo, S., Geml, J., Tecco, P. A., & Nouhra, E. (2017). Co-invasive exotic pines and their ectomycorrhizal symbionts show capabilities for wide distance and altitudinal range expansion. *Fungal Ecology*, 25, 50–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.funeco.2016.11.002
- Vilgalys, R. (2020). Personal Communication.
- Vitousek, P. M., D'Antonio, C., Loope, L., & Westbrooks, R. (1996). Biological invasion as global environmental change. *American Scientist*, 84, 468–478. https://wedocs.unep.org/bitstream/handle/20.500.11822/18385/Vitousek_biological_invasio ns.pdf?sequence=1
- Vlk, L., Tedersoo, L., Antl, T., Větrovský, T., Abarenkov, K., Pergl, J., Albrechtová, J., Vosátka, M., Baldrian, P., Pyšek, P., & Kohout, P. (2020). Alien ectomycorrhizal plants differ in their ability to interact with co-introduced and native ectomycorrhizal fungi in novel sites. *ISME Journal*, *14*(9), 2336–2346. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41396-020-0692-5
- Walbert, K., Ramsfield, T. D., Ridgway, H. J., & Jones, E. E. (2010). Ectomycorrhizal species associated with Pinus radiata in New Zealand including novel associations determined by molecular analysis. *Mycorrhiza*, 20(3), 209–215. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00572-009-0277-7
- Wood, A. R. (2017). Fungi and invasions in South Africa. *Bothalia*, 47(2), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.4102/abc.v47i2.2124

- Wood, J. R., Dickie, I. A., Moeller, H. V., Peltzer, D. A., Bonner, K. I., Rattray, G., & Wilmshurst, J. M. (2015). Novel interactions between non-native mammals and fungi facilitate establishment of invasive pines. *Journal of Ecology*, *103*(1), 121–129. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2745.12345
- Yu, T. E., Egger, K. N., & Peterson, L. R. (2001). Ectendomycorrhizal associations -Characteristics and functions. *Mycorrhiza*, 11(4), 167–177. https://doi.org/10.1007/s005720100110